NUREG/CR-2005 SAND81-7074

Checklist for Evaluating Emergency Procedures Used in Nuclear Power Plants

Prepared by R. L. Brune, M. Weinstein

HPT, Inc.

Sandia National Laboratories

Prepared for U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission

NOTICE

This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by an agency of the United States Government. Neither the United States Government nor any agency thereof, or any of their employees, makes any warranty, expressed or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for any third party's use, or the results of such use, of any information, apparatus product or process disclosed in this report, or represents that its use by such third party would not infringe privately owned rights.

Available from

GPO Sales Program Division of Technical Information and Document Control U. S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Washington, D. C. 20555

Printed copy price: \$2.50

and

National Technical Information Service Springfield, Virginia 22161

Checklist for Evaluating Emergency Procedures Used in Nuclear Power Plants

Manuscript Completed: March 1981 Date Published: May 1981

Prepared by *R. L. Brune, M. Weinstein

*HPT, Inc. P.O. Box 3816 Thousand Oaks, CA 91359

Under Subcontract to Sandia National Laboratories Albuquerque, NM 87185

Prepared for Division of Program Development and Appraisal Office of Inspection and Enforcement U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Washington, D.C. 20555 NRC FIN B3098

•

ABSTRACT

This document describes a checklist to be used by U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Office of Inspection and Enforcement inspectors during their evaluation of emergency procedures. The objective of the checklist is to aid inspectors in identifying characteristics of the procedures that can lead to operator performance deviations. Explanations of the procedures evaluation criteria comprising the checklist are provided. Methods of performing the evaluations are described and suggestions for applying the checklist to increase the effectiveness of the inspection process are made. A companion document, <u>Development of a Checklist for Evaluating Emergency Procedures</u> <u>Used in Nuclear Power Plants</u>, NUREG/CR-1970, SAND81-7070, describes the methodology used to develop the checklist and presents the study findings on which the procedures evaluation criteria are based.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Office of Inspection and Enforcement, with Mr. James C. Stone, Acting Chief, Reactor Programs Development Section, Division of Program Development and Appraisal, as program manager. It is part of a larger program directed by Sandia National Laboratories to improve the effectiveness and safety efficiency of the inspection process, with Alan D. Swain, Statistics, Computing, and Human Factors Division, as technical monitor.

iii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abstract and Acknowledgements
Chapter I. Introduction
Chapter II. Emergency Procedure Evaluation Checklist 3
Chapter III. Discussion of Checklist
Format of Checklist Items
Weighting of Checklist Items
Evaluation Methods
Explanation of Checklist Items
Unapter IV. Application of Checklist

v

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Office of Inspection and Enforcement (I & E) inspectors are currently responsible for evaluating plant operating procedures, including maintenance, test, calibration, and normal operating procedures as well as the emergency procedures for which the checklist described in this report has been prepared. Furthermore, the evaluation of procedures is only one of many tasks that I & E inspectors must perform. It would require a very lengthy and cumbersome checklist to enable an inspector to identify all of the procedural deficiencies that can result in operator performance deviations. The resulting procedures evaluation process would be an extremely time-consuming task. In fact, the most thorough-going method for evaluating procedures would be to assess their compliance with a comprehensive, detailed procedures specification.

In contrast, the checklist presented in this document can be thought of as a screening device to aid inspectors in identifying the procedural deficiencies that are most important in terms of their impact on the quality of operator performance. The most important procedural deficiencies are those that have contributed to operator performance deviations. To identify these performance deviations, an analysis of 890 Licensee Event Reports (LERs) dealing with operator errors during the four-year period from 1975 through 1978 was performed. The specific kinds of errors that are amenable to procedures solutions were determined. Each of the procedures evaluation criteria comprising the checklist items is aimed at correcting one or more kinds of operator performance deviations. To further assist the inspectors to use their time efficiently, each checklist item is rated according to its probable impact upon the quality of operator performance. This feature allows the inspectors to make selective use of the checklist.

Brune, R.L. and Weinstein, M., <u>Development of a Checklist For Evaluating</u> Maintenance, Test, and Calibration Procedures Used in Nuclear Power <u>Plants</u>, NUREG/CR-1368, HPT Inc., Thousand Oaks, CA, May 1980.

Brune, R.L. and Weinstein, M., <u>Procedures Evaluation Checklist for Main-</u> tenance, Test, and Calibration <u>Procedures</u>, NUREG/CR-1369, HPT Inc., Thousand Oaks, CA, May 1980.

Two procedures evaluation processes are described: 1) the Document Review Method consisting of a desk-top review of the emergency procedures and related documents, and 2) the Operator Walk-Through Method, consisting of observing an experienced operator simulate the tasks prescribed by the procedure and, in addition, making an assessment of the completeness of the symptoms and automatic actions information in the procedure by querying the operator. The appropriate evaluation process to use is identified for each item on the checklist.

The checklist is presented in Chapter II. Chapter III discusses the checklist and provides explanations of selected procedures evaluation criteria constituting the checklist items. Suggestions for using the checklist are described in Chapter IV. A companion document, Development of a Checklist for Evaluating Emergency Procedures Used in Nuclear Power Plants, NUREG/CR-1970, SAND81-7070, presents the study methodology and findings on which the checklist is based.

CHAPTER II

EMERGENCY PROCEDURE EVALUATION CHECKLIST

Procedure Ti	tle/No	
Revision	Reviewed by	Date

Review the procedure for each of the following characteristics. If it possesses the characteristic, check <u>Yes</u>; if it lacks the characteristic, check <u>No</u>. Check <u>N/A</u> (Not Applicable) if the characteristic does not apply to the procedure.

The ratings A, B, C, and D indicate the relative impact of a characteristic on the reliability of operator performance under various levels of stress. If a procedure is deficient in a characteristic rated <u>A</u>, performance deviations are most likely; if a procedure is deficient in a characteristic rated D, performance deviations are least likely.

Perform Document Review Evaluation for Items #1-#38.

	Item	Rating	Yes	No	<u>N/A</u>	
1.	Does the title describe the emergency for which the procedure is provided?	,C	•			
2.	Does each page provide the following identifi- cation information?	D	·			
	1. Procedure number and/or title					
	2. Date of issue					,
	3. Revision number					
	4. Page number					
3.	Is the last page of the procedure clearly identifiable by marking, e.g., Pageof; Final Page?	i – D				
4.	If this is a temporary procedure, is it clearly marked with the expiration date?	С				
5.	Do the immediate operator actions avoid refer- encing operators to other procedures for instructions?	В				

С

В

В

В

В

В

В

В

С

A

- Item
- 6. Are the titles and numbers of all referenced documents identified correctly? (If the procedure refers personnel to other procedures for instructional information, each reference must be evaluated as an independent procedure starting with Item #1 of the checklist.)
- 7. If this is a multiple unit site, does the procedure refer to one unit only?
- 8. If more than one person is required to perform the procedure, is the procedure written to one 'primary' user? That is, is it clear from the way that instructions are written that one person is responsible for coordinating the activity?
- 9. When communication between personnel is required, does the procedure specify how and to whom?
- 10. Does the procedure contain provisions for coordinating the activities of others? For example, is there a checklist for recording that someone has been directed to take an action and for recording that the action has been completed?
- 11. Does the procedure contain provisions for verifying that symptoms associated with the emergency were actually observed? For example, is there a checklist for recording that a symptom was observed?
- 12. Does the procedure contain provisions for verifying that automatic actions associated with the emergency were actually observed? For example, is there a checklist for recording that an automatic action was observed?
- 13. Does the procedure contain provisions for verifying that critical immediate operator actions performed from memory were actually performed? For example, is there a checklist for recording that an immediate action was performed?
- 14. Are the instructions typed in both upper and lower case letters (as conventionally used) as opposed to all upper case letters?
- 15. Are instructions written in short, concise, identifiable steps as opposed to multi-step paragraphs?

В

В

В

В

В

А

С

С

В

В

С

А

Item

- 16. Are steps that must be performed in a fixed sequence clearly identified to the user? For example, are the steps marked with asterisks or is the sequence marked "Mandatory" or "Step-by-Step", etc.?
- 17. If a step contains more than two objects of action, are they listed rather than imbedded in the sentence? For example, if an operator is directed to close three or more valves, they should be listed rather than strung out in a sentence.
- 18. If cautions are applicable to the performance of specific steps or series of steps, are they placed immediately ahead of the step(s) to which they apply?
- 19. Are cautions separate and easily discriminable in appearance from instructional steps? For example, are they enclosed in boxes, typed in bold face letters, headed with the word CAUTION, etc.?
- 20. Do cautions avoid the use of action statements? (Statements directing personnel to perform actions must not be imbedded in cautions. Cautions should be expressed in the passive voice.)
- 21. Are cautions provided to inform personnel when displays are based on secondary sensing modes?
- 22. If explanations, i.e., notes, are applicable to the performance of specific steps or series of steps, are they placed immediately ahead of the step(s) to which they apply?
- 23. Are explanations separate and easily discriminable in appearance from instructional steps? For example, are they enclosed in boxes, typed in bold face letters, headed with the word NOTE, etc.?
- 24. Do explanatory notes avoid the use of action statements? (Statements directing personnel to perform actions must not be imbedded in explanatory notes.)
- 25. Are acceptance criteria and limits expressed in quantitative terms when possible?
- 26. Are quantitative acceptance criteria and limits expressed as ranges as opposed to point values?
- 27. Are the acceptance criteria and limits compatible with the limits stated in requirements documents?

28. Does the procedure provide instructions for all reasonable contingencies? For example, if equipment is operating outside the range specified by the procedure, is the operator instructed what action to take? А 29. Are the contingencies provided for in the procedure based upon engineering failure analyses? А 30. Are contingency instructions expressed so that the contingency precedes the action statement? For example, a contingency instruction should be written "If , do .", not "Do if А 31. Are contingency instructions easy to understand? For example, if three or more contingencies must be met before action is directed, the contingencies should be listed separately from the action statement and ahead of the action statement. А 32. If calculations are required, is space provided in the procedure to perform the computations and to record the results? ·С 33. Are computations based on technically accurate, А complete, and up-to-date formulas? 34. Are graphs, charts, and tables adequate for readability and interpolation or extraction of values? A 35. Complexity Index (CI): Evaluate the complexity of the instructions by determining the average number of actions per step that the user is directed to perform. Use all steps to calculate the average. Is the average number of actions per step 1.5 or less? B 36. Specificity Index (SI): Evaluate the level of specificity of the instructions by determining the percent of steps in the procedure that meet all of the following criteria. Use all steps in calculating the percent. 1. The action to be taken is specifically identified (open, close, rotate, etc.). 2. Limits are expressed quantitatively, e.g., 2 turns, 80 (75-85) in. 1bs. 3. Equipment and parts are identified completely (HPCI-MO-17, etc.).

Item

Do 90% of the steps meet the above criteria?

6

R

В

А

А

А

А

Item

- 37. Do the alignment instructions in the procedure meet all of the following criteria?
 - Each item requiring alignment is individually specified. (It is not acceptable to refer personnel to previous steps.)
 - 2. Each item is identified with a unique number or nomenclature.
 - 3. The position in which the item is to be placed is specified.
 - 4. The position in which the item is placed is verified.
- 38. If the procedure specifies an action that must be performed at a later time or repeated at periodic intervals, does it contain provisions for flagging the operator to perform the action? For example, if an action must be repeated every 15 minutes, are there spaces to record the times at which the action must be performed?

Perform Operator Walk-Through for Items #39-#46.

- 39. Does the procedure identify all likely symptoms or combinations of symptoms associated with the emergency? (If an engineering analysis is not available, determine whether the operator can describe symptoms or combinations not identified by the procedure.)
- 40. Does the procedure specify automatic actions associated with the emergency adequately? (Determine whether the operator can describe automatic actions not specified by the procedure.)
- 41. Does the procedure specify all critical actions required to respond to the emergency? (Observe whether the operator performs critical actions not specified by the procedure.)
- 42. If the procedure contains sequence-critical actions, is the sequence specified by the procedure correct? (Observe whether the operator performs sequence-critical actions in the sequence specified.)

А

В

С

А

43. Does the procedure allow enough time to perform time-critical actions? (Observe whether the operator can perform time-critical actions in the time allowed, i.e., by equipment response, distances involved, etc.)

Item

44. Are equipment numbers and/or nomenclature used in the procedure identical to those displayed on the equipment?

- 45. If the answer to Item #44 is Yes, is equipment nomenclature typed in upper case letters in the procedure?
- 46. Does the procedure identify the location of each item of equipment adequately? (Observe whether the operator can locate switches, gauges, etc. in a timely manner.)

Action:

Disposition:

CHAPTER III

DISCUSSION OF CHECKLIST

The checklist has several features that serve to promote the efficiency with which it can be employed. They are described below.

Format of Checklist Items

All of the checklist items are written so that they can be answered <u>Yes</u>, <u>No</u>, or <u>Not Applicable</u>. They are uniformly phrased so that a <u>Yes</u> answer is a positive evaluation. That is, a <u>Yes</u> answer indicates that the procedure possesses a desirable attribute and a <u>No</u> answer means that it lacks a desirable attribute. <u>Not Applicable</u> means the attribute is not relevant to the procedure. For example, a procedure cannot be evaluated regarding the accruacy with which it identifies referenced documents if it does not refer to other documents.

Weighting of Checklist Items

The checklist items are rated A, B, C, or D. These ratings indicate the relative impact of the characteristic described in the item on the reliability of operator performance. The relative magnitude of impact under various levels of stress is shown in the table below.

Probability of Performance Deviation Under:			
Rating	Low Stress*	Moderate Stress*	High Stress*
А	Moderate	High	High
В	Moderate	Moderate	High
C	Low	Moderate	Moderate
D	Low	Low	Moderate

*These terms are defined with descriptions and examples in Swain, A.D. and Guttmann, H.E., <u>Handbook of Human Reliability Analysis with Empha-</u> sis on Nuclear Power Plant Applications, NUREG/CR-1278, United States Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, D.C., October 1980.

Each checklist item is rated to convey to the inspectors its relative value in reducing the frequency of performance deviations reported in LERs. These ratings, integrated with an inspector's own judgment of the level of stress likely to be associated with a particular emergency condition and knowledge of the consequences of error associated with the performance of a specific procedure or action, should enable the inspector to assess the importance of correcting a particular procedural deficiency.

Evaluation Methods

The checklist items are grouped according to the evaluation method to be employed in reviewing a procedure for the characteristics described by the items. Two different evaluation methods are prescribed in the checklist; the Document Review Method and the Operator Walk-Through Method.

Document Review Method

The evaluation of a procedure on Items #1 through #38 is accomplished by means of a desk-top document review. This method consists of obtaining the procedures of interest and their related documents and evaluating them with respect to the criteria contained in these items. Typically, related documents consist of: 1) drawings, procedures, schematics, etc. specifically referenced by the procedure, and 2) technical specifications, Final Safety Analysis Reports (FSARs), and other basic requirements documents that affect the content of the procedures. In some cases, it might be necessary to examine corporate policies and station directives having an impact on procedures contents. For example, value alignment, logging, and tagging activities might be described in a directive rather than a procedure. The inspector should review the documents describing these processes in order to determine whether or not any of this information should be contained in the emergency procedure itself rather than in a less immediately accessible document.

These documents in combination comprise the information system affecting

the content of procedures and, consequently, the performance of emergency responses. If an inspector cannot evaluate a procedures characteristic from the available documents alone when a document review is specified by the checklist, it can be assumed that the information system is deficient with respect to completeness or with respect to organization. Either deficiency will affect the quality of procedural content adversely.

Operator Walk-Through Method

Items #39 through #46 are evaluated by means of an operator walkthrough of the procedure. The performance of this evaluation requires the direct support of a senior reactor operator. The objective of this method is to judge whether or not the amount and kind of information provided by the procedure is complete with respect to the information needs of the operators. That is, the inspector seeks to evaluate the adequacy of the "level of detail" of the procedure. This attribute of a procedure is the most difficult of all procedural characteristics to evaluate. Judgments of adequacy of level of detail are based on assumptions about the qualifications of the personnel for whom the procedure is provided. Such assumptions are often tenuous at best because of the wide differences between groups of operators with respect to training for emergencies and the relatively unknown effects of these differences in training.

Partial evidence of the completeness or level of detail of a procedure can be obtained with the assistance of an experienced operator. The operator must perform a walk-through of the procedure, simulating the actions specified in the instructions. During this process, the completeness of the symptoms and automatic actions sections of the procedure can be determined insofar as possible by means of discussions with the operator.

The technical accuracy of the procedure can be ascertained for the most part only by means of engineering analyses. The walk-through can address a limited number of procedural characteristics for accuracy. For example, some evaluations, such as determining the correspondence between equipment nomenclature or identification numbers used in a procedure and the

nomenclature or numbers actually displayed on equipment, can be performed by walking through the facility with the procedure in hand and comparing the two. During the walk-through it might also be desired to make selected human factors observations of the work environment, the facility layout and the equipment, all of which bear upon the effectiveness and safety of personnel performance. For example, the inspector might wish to assess the readability of legends and displays from the perspective of the person performing the procedure. Also, distances between operator stations and control positions should be noted to evaluate the efficiency of task sequences and their compatibility with job requirements such as imposed by time-critical tasks.

Explanation of Checklist Items

This section lists the procedures evaluation criteria in the same sequence in which they appear on the checklist. In cases where the relationship between a criterion and the quality of human performance might not be apparent, an explanation is provided.

 Does the title describe the emergency for which the procedure is provided?

Explanation. Several LERs have occurred because operators selected and used a wrong procedure to perform an activity. The use of descriptive titles will increase the probability of selecting the correct procedure.

2. Does each page provide the following identification information?

- 1. Procedure number and/or title
- 2. Date of issue
- 3. Revision number
- 4. Page number

Explanation. None.

3. Is the last page of the procedure clearly identifiable by marking, e.g., Page____of____; Final Page, Last Page?

Explanation. The last page of a procedure is most vulnerable to

becoming detached and lost. It should be made obvious to the user if the last page is missing.

4. If this is a temporary procedure, is it clearly marked with the expiration date?

Explanation. None.

5. Do the immediate operator actions avoid referencing operators to other procedures for instructions?

Explanation. One of the most frequently voiced complaints of operators about procedures is the overuse of references to other procedures for instructional information. In some cases the other procedures may not be obtained and used. To ensure the ready availablility of information for the learning and performance of immediate operator actions, all critical information should be provided by one procedure only.

6. Are the titles and numbers of all referenced documents identified correctly? If the procedure refers personnel to other procedures for instructional information, each reference must be evaluated as an independent procedure starting with Item #1 of the checklist.

Explanation. None.

7. If this is a multiple unit site, does the procedure refer to one unit only?

Explanation. The practice of providing one procedure containing multiple sets of equipment identification numbers for use with two or more units is quite common. This practice increases the difficulty of reading and comprehending the procedure, particularly during stressful circumstances. It also increases the probability of performing a procedure on the wrong unit.

8. If more than one person is required to perform the procedure, is the procedure written to one 'primary' user? That is, is it clear from the way that instructions are written that one person is responsible for coordinating the activity?

Explanation. The findings from the several TMI-2 studies underlined

the need for more structured coordination of crew responses to emergencies. The study on which the checklist is based disclosed considerable variability among plants and among shift supervisors within a given plant with respect to training and skills in coordinating crew responses. Procedural formats to structure multi-man activities have been developed and used effectively for many years. The application of a similar procedural structure to nuclear power plant emergency procedures would reduce the number of errors in communication and in omissions of actions that currently result from relatively unstructured, uncoordinated crew responses. Because the emergency procedures are used for training as well as on-the-job application, they could also contribute to the development of relevant skills.

9. When communication between personnel is required, does the procedure specify how and to whom?

Explanation. See explanation for Item #8.

10. Does the procedure contain provisions for coordinating the activities of others? For example, is there a checklist for recording that someone has been directed to take an action and for recording that the action has been completed?

Explanation. High-stress conditions are conducive to errors in communications and omission of actions, particularly when the activities of several individuals, sometimes remote from each other, must be coordinated. A checklist or other device will aid in the early detection of these errors.

- 11. Does the procedure contain provisions for verifying that symptoms associated with the emergency were actually observed? For example, is there a checklist for recording that a symptom was observed? Explanation. See explanation for Item #13.
- 12. Does the procedure contain provisions for verifying that automatic actions associated with the emergency were actually observed? For example, is there a checklist for recording that an automatic action was observed?

Explanation. See explanation for Item #13.

13. Does the procedure contain provisions for verifying that critical immediate operator actions performed from memory were actually performed? For example, is there a checklist for recording that an immediate action was performed?

Explanation. The observation of symptoms and automatic actions and the performance of immediate operator actions are typically accomplished before a procedure is obtained. As a result, reliance must be placed upon operator memory (unless automatic recording equipment is available and operable) to reconstruct the course of an event. The checklists are intended to enable the operators to record the occurrence of symptoms, automatic actions, and immediate operator actions directly after obtaining the procedure and before stress further degrades accurate recall. The checklists enhance the detection of errors of omission.

14. Are the instructions typed in both upper and lower case letters

(as conventionally used) as opposed to all upper case letters? <u>Explanation</u>. Studies have shown that conventional printing can be read faster and more accurately than text printed entirely in upper case lettering. In addition, upper case lettering in the body of the text should be reserved for equipment nomenclature to aid in detecting references to equipment.

15. Are instructions written in short, concise, identifiable steps as opposed to multi-step paragraphs?

Explanation. Studies have shown that the speed of reading and the comprehension of written instructions are improved if the instructions are presented in short, concise sentences. Ideally, an instruction should consist of an action verb and the object of the action—plus action limits and object identifiers, and, if necessary, object locators. Additional information, such as that contained in explanations and descriptions, that is intended to aid the user to accomplish the action more effectively should ordinarily be presented in the form of a note preceding the action instruction.

- 16. Are steps that must be performed in a fixed sequence clearly identified to the user? For example, are the steps marked with asterisks or is the sequence marked "Mandatory" or "Step-by-Step", etc.?
 <u>Explanation</u>. By its very nature, a written procedure presents steps in a sequence. In many cases, the actions can be performed in a variety of sequences to accomplish the same operation. In some operations, however, the sequence in which the actions are performed is critical. That is, only a single sequence of actions will result in acceptable accomplishment of the operation. Yet, the study team encountered only one plant in which sequence-critical steps were identified. As a result, the operators are generally required to make this distinction—even in high-stress conditions. A related consequence is that inspectors or other personnel cannot assess operator knowledge of sequence-critical operations. Identification of sequence-critical steps would aid operator training and performance evaluation.
- 17. If a step contains more than two objects of action, are they listed rather than imbedded in the sentence? For example, if an operator is directed to close three or more valves, they should be listed rather than strung out in a sentence.

Explanation. This format (tabular or columnar) can be read faster and more accurately than conventional sentence structure. For example:

	Inis	Not This
0pen	following valves:	Open valves XXU, XXV, XXW, XXX,
XXU	XXX	XXY, and XXZ.
XXV	XXY	
XXW	XXZ	

18. If cautions are applicable to the performance of specific steps or series of steps, are they placed immediately ahead of the step(s) to which they apply?

Explanation. Instructional information must be presented in the order in which it is needed. If the user needs cautionary information before performing a specific action, it must be presented before the statement

. (6).

16:

directing the action. Otherwise, there is a high probability that the action will be performed without the cautionary information being taken into consideration.

19. Are cautions separate and easily discriminable in appearance from instructional steps? For example, are they enclosed in boxes, typed in bold face letters, headed with the word CAUTION, etc.?

Explanation. None.

20. Do cautions avoid the use of action statements? (Statements directing personnel to perform actions must not be imbedded in cautions. Cautions should be expressed in the passive voice.)

Explanation. Cautions should not be expressed in terms of directing users to take or not take actions. Instead, the cautions should describe the conditions or consequences of actions. The passive voice should be used. All actions should be directed in the instructional steps only. Failure to observe this rule consistently will result in the overlooking of critical actions by the operators.

21. Are cautions provided to inform personnel when displays are based on secondary sensing modes?

Explanation. In the TMI-2 event, individuals interpreted a display of switch position as if it were a display of valve position. An optimum solution to this human factors problem is to replace secondary sensing systems with primary sensing systems. A less effective, but readily available, solution is to insert cautions or notes in procedures to identify displays based on secondary sensing.

22. If explanations, i.e., notes, are applicable to the performance of specific steps or series of steps, are they placed immediately ahead of the step(s) to which they apply?

Explanation. See explanation for Item #18.

23. Are explanations separate and easily discriminable in appearance from instructional steps? For example, are they enclosed in boxes, typed in bold face letters, headed with the word NOTE, etc.? Explanation. None.

. 17

24. Do explanatory notes avoid the use of action statements? (Statements directing personnel to perform actions must not be imbedded in explanatory notes.)

Explanation. See explanation for Item #20.

25. Are acceptance criteria and limits expressed in quantitative terms when possible?

Explanation. In this and other studies, reactor operators have expressed a need for more quantitative limits in procedures. It has also been found that operators vary among themselves with regard to their interpretation of qualitative modifiers, e.g., slow, fast, rapidly. Finally, high-stress conditions can distort an individual's perception of slow, fast, etc. Use of quantified limits will promote standardization of responses.

26. Are quantitative acceptance criteria and limits expressed as ranges as opposed to point values?

Explanation. When equipment does not permit the setting of point values, or when a range of values is acceptable, the acceptance criteria should be expressed in terms of ranges. However, they should be expressed in a form to avoid errors of addition, subtraction, or conversion. Example:



midpoint lower limit upper limit

27. Are the acceptance criteria and limits compatible with the limits stated in requirements documents?

Explanation. None.

28. Does the procedure provide instructions for all reasonable contingencies? For example, if equipment is operating outside the range specified by the procedure, is the operator instructed what action to take? Explanation. Many procedures are written as though all acceptance criteria and limits will be met. They do not address the exceptions. In the study on which the checklist is based, it was found that the procedures preceded by a formal engineering analysis covered 4.5 times as many contingencies as the emergency procedures that were not derived from engineering analyses. The implication of this finding is that the typical emergency procedure is probably incomplete with respect to contingency information. If the inspector finds that no engineering analysis was performed, the completeness of the procedure is doubtful. It is impractical for the inspector to perform an engineering analysis of the magnitude required to identify all contingencies that can be reasonably expected. Therefore, it may be necessary to make a partial evaluation of the procedure with the aid of the control room operating staff using an approach similar to the walk-through process described for evaluating Items #39 through #42.

29. Are the contingencies provided for in the procedure based upon engineering failure analyses?

Explanation. See explanation for Item #28.

- 30. Are contingency instructions expressed so that the contingency precedes the action statement? For example, a contingency instruction should be written "If_____, do_____.", not "Do______ if____."
 Explanation. If the action instruction precedes the contingency statement, there is an increased probability that the operator will perform the action before reading the qualifying condition.
- 31. Are contingency instructions easy to understand? For example, if three or more contingencies must be met before action is directed, the contingencies should be listed separately from the action statement and ahead of the action statement.

Explanation. Frequently, the instruction to perform an action depends upon the presence of several conditions or combinations of conditions. In these instances the majority of the procedures reviewed provided this information in lengthy, hard-to-understand sentences. Essential contingency information could be overlooked or misinterpreted in complex sentences, particularly during high-stress conditions conducive to the impairment of comprehension. A tabular or columnar format promotes ease of comprehension. Example:

This Not This	
If any of the following Ifor	
conditions exist: orexist, do	•
•	

32. If calculations are required, is space provided in the procedure to perform the computations and to record the results?

Explanation. This provision is intended to increase the accuracy of performing calculations and to facilitate verification of the results by others.

33. Are computations based on technically accurate, complete, and upto-date formulas?

Explanation. None.

34. Are graphs, charts, and tables adequate for readability and interpolation or extraction of values?

Explanation. Misinterpretation of graphs, charts, and tables has resulted in performance errors. It is often traceable to poor readability of these materials—which, in turn, is attributable to 1) inadequate original construction, or 2) inadequate reproduction. The following guidelines are provided to evaluate readability.

Original construction. Letters and numbers should be typed rather than handwritten. Lines on graph paper should be reproducible on licensee reproduction equipment. On graphs, units of measurement used in plotted values should be compatible with divisions on graph paper. That is, if plotted values progress in units of five, e.g., 5, 10, 15, etc., it is better to separate the values by five lines than by four lines. To facilitate accuracy of locating values in charts and tables, look for such aids as 1) partitioning tables with lines, 2) arranging values in subgroups, e.g., inserting spaces between subgroups of five values, and 3) placing connecting lines between values or between nomenclature and values.

Reproduction. In some cases, copies are so many generations removed from the original or master copy that lines in graphs, charts, and tables have deteriorated or disappeared, making it difficult to track or interpolate values. Letters and numbers can undergo similar deterioration. Also, materials have sometimes been reduced in size so that readability is impaired. Letters and numbers should be at least 1/8 in. in height, unbroken and unfilled. All lines in the reproductions should be as visible as they are in the orginal master copies. First, compare the reproductions to the original or master copies. Then, evaluate the readability of the reproductions under the conditions of illumination in which personnel use them.

35. Complexity Index (CI): Evaluate the complexity of the instructions by determining the average number of actions per step that the user is directed to perform. Use all steps in calculating the average. Is the average number of actions per step 1.5 or less?
<u>Explanation</u>. The complexity index (CI) of a procedure is defined as the average number of actions stated in the instructional steps or paragraphs. The average is computed by sampling all steps or paragraphs in a procedure.

Number of Actions in Procedure

CI= Number of Steps or Paragraphs in Procedure

The greater the number of actions that are directed by a step, the more likely an action is to be overlooked or forgotten. Ideally, a step should contain only one action unless the actions are related, in which case up to three actions are acceptable. Related actions are actions that, in combination, accomplish a single end-result. In the example

of related actions shown below, the single result is an adjusted volume. Example of Three Related Actions (Acceptable):

"5. Start pump PL-16. Observe gauge WL-16. When level is 62 (60-64) in., stop pump."

Example of Two Unrelated Actions (Not Acceptable):

"8. Close switch LAC-1781. Close valve HVC-23."

36. Specificity Index (SI): Evaluate the level of specificity of the instructions by determining the percent of steps in the procedure that meet all of the following criteria. Use all steps in calculating the percent.

- The action to be taken is specifically identified (open, close, rotate, etc.).
- Limits are expressed quantitatively, e.g., 2 turns, 80 (75-85) in. lbs.

3. Equipment and parts are identified completely (HPCI-MO-17, etc.). Do 90% of the steps meet the above criteria?

Explanation. The above criteria list the basic characteristics of a specific (versus general) instruction. Fewer errors of interpretation or omission result from instructions with high specificity.

37. Do the alignment instructions in the procedure meet all of the following criteria?

1. Each item requiring alignment is individually specified.

(It is not acceptable to refer personnel to previous steps.)

- 2. Each item is identified with a unique number or nomenclature.
- 3. The position in which the item is to be placed is specified.

4. The position in which the item is placed is verified.

Explanation. Two of the primary contributors to misalignment are lack of specificity of instructions and lack of physical verification of position. The criteria listed above are aimed at improving specificity and verification. In some procedures, it was found that instructions were adequate for initial alignment but shortchanged realignment by simply directing personnel to "Reposition valves listed in Step 5." In this instance, personnel were not provided a means within the procedure for verifying valve position. The instruction should have relisted the valves, their new positions, and provided signoff for each valve.

38. If the procedure specifies an action that must be performed at a later time or repeated at periodic intervals, does it contain provisions for flagging the operator to perform the action? For example, if an action must be repeated every 15 minutes, are there spaces to record the times at which the action must be performed? Explanation. Some emergency procedures require that an action such as checking a pressure or flowrate be performed at set intervals, e.g., every 15 minutes. In the past, failure to observe timing requirements has resulted in LERs describing overflows, excessive draining, etc. Provisions within the procedure for recording times at which time-critical actions must be performed will enable operators to comply with timing requirements more consistently and more accurately.

39. Does the procedure identify all likely symptoms or combinations of symptoms associated with the emergency? (If an engineering analysis is not available, determine whether the operator can describe symptoms or combinations not identified by the procedure.)

Explanation. See explanation for Item #41.

40. Does the procedure specify automatic actions associated with the emergency adequately? (Determine whether the operator can describe automatic actions not specified by the procedure.) Explanation. See explanation for Item #41.

41. Does the procedure specify all critical actions required to respond to the emergency? (Observe whether the operator performs critical actions not specified by the procedure.)

Explanation. Items #39, #40, and #41 deal with the completeness of an emergency procedure. As described earlier (see explanation for Item #28), the completeness of a procedure is a function of the quality of the engineering analyses on which the procedure is based. It is likely that, in many cases, the inspector will find that no engineering analyses were

performed as part of the development of the procedure being evaluated. It is also possible that some of the analyses that were performed were inadequate. Study findings comparing the amount of contingency information in procedures not derived from engineering analyses against procedures derived from engineering analyses (see Item #28) underline this possibility. The inspector is not in a position to perform engineering analyses to determine the completeness of the information in a procedure. However, a partial evaluation can be made with a relatively small investment of time with the assistance of members of the operating staff. Discussions with and observations of experienced operators performing a walk-through of the procedure should disclose procedural omissions of highest probability events.

42. If the procedure contains sequence-critical actions, is the sequence specified by the procedure correct? (Observe whether the operator performs sequence-critical actions in the sequence specified.)

<u>Explanation</u>. The inspector will encounter some procedures in which sequences of actions are not critical and other procedures in which sequences are critical to successful accomplishment of an operation. In many cases, the licensee will not make this distinction obvious. As a first step, the licensee should be required to identify sequence-critical steps. The inspector can then determine the accuracy of the sequences as part of the walk-through evaluation process.

43. Does the procedure allow enough time to perform time-critical actions? (Observe whether the operator can perform time-critical actions in the time allowed, i.e., by equipment response, distances involved, etc.)

Explanation. Some actions specified in emergency procedures are timecritical. Time-critical steps should be identified by the licensee along with the time allowed to perform a step or the time allowed to intervene between steps. The inspector should then determine whether or not the operator or crew of operators can perform these steps within the allowed time limits.

44. Are equipment numbers and/or nomenclature used in the procedure identical to those displayed on the equipment?

Explanation. None.

45. If the answer to Item #44 is Yes, is equipment nomenclature typed in upper case letters in the procedure?

Explanation. It is a technical writing practice to print equipment nomenclature in capital letters. Use of this guideline enables personnel to locate and identify procedural references to equipment quickly. It also informs personnel that this is the nomenclature displayed on the equipment itself.

46. Does the procedure identify the location of each item of equipment adequately? (Observe whether the operator can locate switches, gauges, etc. in a timely manner.)

Explanation. Findings from TMI-2 and other studies suggest that procedures sometimes fail to provide enough location information to the operators. This deficiency can be particularly serious in an emergency during which search time might be limited. Emergency procedures should be evaluated for this characteristic as part of the walk-through.

CHAPTER IV

APPLICATION OF CHECKLIST

The checklist can be applied to serve either or both of two distinctly different purposes. They are:

- to identify deficiencies in a sample of procedures with the objective of correcting the deficiencies in that specific sample of procedures, and/or
- to identify deficiencies in a sample of procedures with the objective of correcting the process that produced the deficient procedures.

In the first case, the inspector is basically performing the function of an editor, and, as a result, the impact of the inspection process will be confined to the procedures being evaluated. The rate at which existing procedures are modified and new procedures are prepared far outpaces the rate at which they can be evaluated by inspectors. Therefore, if only changes in identified deficiencies are sought, the objective of improving the effectiveness and safety efficiency of the inspection process will not be attained.

In the second case, the impact of the inspector on the quality of licensee procedures will be maximized. Here, the procedures are viewed primarily as indicators of the quality of the procedures development process. Although the inspector should also seek to have the specific procedures that are reviewed corrected, the main objective of the inspection is to determine the overall quality of the licensee's procedures development process. If the samples of procedures exhibit particular deficiencies in common with each other, a change in the process used by the licensee to prepare or revise procedures, or a change in the licensee's specification governing the format or content of the procedures is required. This kind of corrective action, coupled with periodic inspections, will effectively improve the quality of all of the emergency procedures, rather than just the procedures selected for review. If the checklist is used in this manner, the objective of improving the effectiveness and safety efficiency of the inspection process will be advanced.

· ·

. . .
NRC FORM 335 U.S. NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION BIBLIOGRAPHIC DATA SHEET		1. REPORT NUM NUREG/CF SAND81-7	18ER <i>(Assig</i> 2005 1074	ned by DD	C)
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE (Add Volume No., if appropriate)		2. (Leave blank)			
Checklist for Evaluating Emergency Procedures Nuclear Power Plants	Used In	3. RECIPIENT'S	ACCESSION	N NO.	
7. AUTHOR(S)		5. DATE REPOR	TCOMPLE	TED	
Robert L. Brune and Meyer Weinstein		Момтн Ма	rch	YEAR	1981
9. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME AND MAILING ADDRESS (Include	Zip Code)	DATE REPOR	T ISSUED		
Sandia National Laboratories		момтн Ма	у		1981
Arbuquerque, Mr 0/105	•	6. (Leave blank)			
		8. (Leave blank)	······································		
12. SPONSORING ORGANIZATION NAME AND MAILING ADDRESS (Include Division of Program Development and Appraisal	Zip Code)	10. PROJECT/TA	SK/WORK	UNIT NO.	
Office of Inspection and Enforcement		11. CONTRACT	NO.		
Washington, D.C. 20555		FIN B3098			
13. TYPE OF REPORT	PERIOD COVER	ED (Inclusive dates)	1		
Tashniasl Panert Formal	2/10/00	2/21/01			
15 SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES	3/10/00	- 3/31/81			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
			- 18-110 · · · · · · · ·		
Office of Inspection and Enforcement inspector procedures. The objective of the checklist is characteristics of the procedures that can lea Explanations of the procedures evaluation crit Methods of performing the evaluations are desc checklist to increase the effectiveness of the document, <u>Development of a Checklist for Evalu</u> <u>Power Plants</u> , NUREG/CR-1970, SAND81-7070, desc checklist and presents the study findings on w are based.	s during the to aid insy d to operate eria compris ribed and su inspection ating Emerge ribes the me hich the pro	eir evaluation pectors in the or performant sing the che uggestions for process are ency Procedu ethodology u pocedures eva	ion of a identify nce dev ecklist for apple made. ures Use used to aluation	emergen ying iations are pr lying f A con ed in l develo n crite	ncy s. covided. the mpanion <u>Nuclear</u> op the eria
17. KEY WORDS AND DOCUMENT ANALYSIS	17a. DESCRIPTOR	6			
procedures evaluation checklist for procedures evaluation emergency procedures human factors					
17b. IDENTIFIERS/OPEN ENDED TERMS					
18. AVAILABILITY STATEMENT	19. SECURITY	CLASS (This repo	<i>rt)</i> 21. N(D. OF PAG	ES

Printed on recycled paper

Federal Recycling Program

· . . .

ал таад хэл 4

۲

. .

UNITED STATES NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION WASHINGTON, D. C. 20555

OFFICIAL BUSINESS PENAL

CHECKLIST FOR EVALUATING EMERGENCY PROCEDURES USED IN NUCLEAR POWER PLANTS

MAY 1981

NUREG/CR-2005 SAND81-7074 Rev. 1

Checklist for Evaluating Emergency Operating Procedures Used in Nuclear Power Plants

Prepared by R. L. Brune, M. Weinstein/HPT, Inc.

HPT, Inc.

Sandia National Laboratories

Prepared for U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission

NOTICE

This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by an agency of the United States Government. Neither the United States Government nor any agency thereof, or any of their employees, makes any warranty, expressed or implied, or assumes any legal liability of responsibility for any third party's use, or the results of such use, of any information, apparatus, product or process disclosed in this report, or represents that its use by such third party would not infringe privately owned rights.

Availability of Reference Materials Cited in NRC Publications

Most documents cited in NRC publications will be available from one of the following sources:

- 1. The NRC Public Document Room, 1717 H Street, N.W. Washington, DC 20555
- 2. The NRC/GPO Sales Program, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, DC 20555
- 3. The National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA 22161

Although the listing that follows represents the majority of documents cited in NRC publications, it is not intended to be exhaustive.

Referenced documents available for inspection and copying for a fee from the NRC Public Document Room include NRC correspondence and internal NRC memoranda; NRC Office of Inspection and Enforcement bulletins, circulars, information notices, inspection and investigation notices; Licensee Event Reports; vendor reports and correspondence; Commission papers; and applicant and licensee documents and correspondence.

The following documents in the NUREG series are available for purchase from the NRC/GPO Sales Program: formal NRC staff and contractor reports, NRC-sponsored conference proceedings, and NRC booklets and brochures. Also available are Regulatory Guides, NRC regulations in the Code of Federal Regulations, and Nuclear Regulatory Commission Issuances.

Documents available from the National Technical Information Service include NUREG series reports and technical reports prepared by other federal agencies and reports prepared by the Atomic Energy Commission, forerunner agency to the Nuclear Regulatory Commission.

Documents available from public and special technical libraries include all open literature items, such as books, journal and periodical articles, and transactions. *Federal Register* notices, federal and state legislation, and congressional reports can usually be obtained from these libraries.

Documents such as theses, dissertations, foreign reports and translations, and non-NRC conference proceedings are available for purchase from the organization sponsoring the publication cited.

Single copies of NRC draft reports are available free upon written request to the Division of Technical Information and Document Control, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, DC 20555.

Copies of industry codes and standards used in a substantive manner in the NRC regulatory process are maintained at the NRC Library, 7920 Norfolk Avenue, Bethesda, Maryland, and are available there for reference use by the public. Codes and standards are usually copyrighted and may be purchased from the originating organization or, if they are American National Standards, from the American National Standards Institute, 1430 Broadway, New York, NY 10018.

GPO Printed copy price: \$4.50

NUREG/CR-2005 SAND81-7074 Rev. 1

Checklist for Evaluating Emergency Operating Procedures Used in Nuclear Power Plants

Manuscript Completed: February 1983 Date Published: April 1983

Prepared by R. L. Brune, M. Weinstein, HPT, Inc.

HPT, Inc. P.O. Box 3816 Thousand Oaks, CA 91359

Under Subcontract to Sandia National Laboratories Albuquerque, NM 87185

Prepared for Division of Quality Assurance, Safeguards, and Inspection Programs Office of Inspection and Enforcement U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Washington, D.C. 20555 NRC FIN B3098

ABSTRACT

This document describes a checklist to be used by U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) Office of Inspection and Enforcement inspectors during their evaluation of emergency operating procedures. The objective of the checklist is to aid inspectors in identifying characteristics of the procedures that can lead to operator performance deviations. Explanations of the procedures evaluation criteria comprising the checklist are provided. Methods of performing the evaluations are described and suggestions for applying the checklist to increase the effectiveness of the inspection process are made. A companion document, <u>Development of a Checklist for Evaluating Emergency Procedures Used in Nuclear Power Plants</u>, NUREG/CR-1970, describes the methodology used to develop the checklist and presents the study findings on which the procedures evaluation criteria are based.

Revision 1 of the checklist, presented herein, is the result of a one-year field test by NRC inspectors in all five NRC regions. It incorporates improvements that were suggested by inspectors based on their experience with the checklist in performing evaluations of licensee procedures.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Office of Inspection and Enforcement, with Mr. James C. Stone, Chief, Construction Programs Section, Reactor Construction Programs Branch, Division of Quality Assurance, Safeguards, and Inspection Programs, as program manager. It is part of a larger program directed by Sandia National Laboratories to improve the effectiveness and safety efficiency of the inspection process, with Alan D. Swain, Statistics, Computing, and Human Factors Division, as technical monitor. Special acknowledgment is made of the contributions to the revised checklist by the NRC inspectors who participated in the field evaluation.

an an an an

CONTENTS

Abstract and Acknowledgments	
Chapter I. Introduction	
Chapter II. Emergency Operating Procedure Evaluation Checklist 3	•
Chapter III. Discussion of the Checklist 11	
Format of Checklist Items	
Ratings of Checklist Items	
Evaluation Methods	
Explanation of Checklist Items	
Chapter IV. Application of the Checklist	

v

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission Office of Inspection and Enforcement (I & E) inspectors are currently responsible for evaluating plant operating procedures, including maintenance, test, calibration, and normal operating procedures* as well as the emergency operating procedures for which the checklist described in this report has been prepared. Furthermore, the evaluation of procedures is only one of many tasks that I & E inspectors must perform. It would require a very lengthy and cumbersome checklist to enable an inspector to identify all of the procedural deficiencies that can result in operator performance deviations. The resulting procedures evaluation process would be an extremely time-consuming task. In fact, the most thorough-going method for evaluating procedures would be to assess their compliance with a comprehensive, detailed procedures format specification and applicable emergency operating procedures technical guidelines.

In contrast, the checklist presented in this document can be thought of as a screening device to aid inspectors in identifying the procedural deficiencies that are most important in terms of their impact on the quality of operator performance. The most important procedural deficiencies are those that have contributed to operator performance deviations. To identify these performance deviations, an analysis of 890 Licensee Event Reports (LERs) dealing with operator errors during the four-year period from 1975 through 1978 was performed. The specific kinds of errors that are amenable to procedures solutions were determined. Each of the procedures evaluation criteria comprising the checklist items is aimed at correcting one or more kinds of operator performance deviations. To further assist the inspectors to use their time efficiently, each checklist item is rated according to its probable impact upon the quality of operator performance. This feature allows the inspectors to make selective use of the checklist.

Two procedures evaluation processes are described: 1) the Document Review Method consisting of a desk-top review of the emergency procedures and related documents, and 2) the Operator Walk-Through Method, consisting of observing an experienced operator simulate the tasks prescribed by the procedure and, in addition, making an assessment of the completeness of the symptoms and automatic actions information in the procedure by querying the operator. The appropriate evaluation process to use is identified for each item on the checklist.

*Brune, R.L. and Weinstein, M., <u>Development of a Checklist For Evaluating</u> <u>Maintenance, Test, and Calibration Procedures Used in Nuclear Power Plants</u>, HPT Inc. and Sandia National Laboratories, NUREG/CR-1368, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, DC, May 1980.

Brune, R.L. and Weinstein, M., <u>Procedures Evaluation Checklist for Mainte-</u> nance, Test, and Calibration Procedures, HPT Inc. and Sandia National Laboratories, NUREG/CR-1369, Revision 1, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, DC, September 1982.

;1

After it was completed, the checklist was distributed to the NRC regional offices for a field test by NRC inspectors who used it in evaluating licensee emergency operating procedures. As a result of inspector experiences with the checklist in field situations, the regional offices suggested a number of changes in its content and application. Their suggestions have been incorporated in Revision 1 of the checklist, described herein, resulting in an improved checklist and a more efficient procedure evaluation process.

The checklist is presented in Chapter II. Chapter III discusses the checklist and provides explanations of selected procedures evaluation criteria constituting the checklist items. Suggestions for using the checklist are described in Chapter IV. A companion document, <u>Development of a Checklist for Evaluating Emergency Procedures Used in Nuclear Power Plants</u>, NUREG/CR-1970, SAND81-7070, presents the study methodology and findings on which the checklist is based.

2

CHAPTER II

EMERGENCY OPERATING PROCEDURE EVALUATION CH	ECKLIST
Procedure Title/No	
RevisionReviewed by	Date
Review the procedure for each of the following items. the characteristic described in the item, check Yes; characteristic, check No. Check N/A (Not Applicable) istic does not apply to the procedure. An example giv item is only one way of meeting the evaluation criter be interpreted as the only way of meeting the criteric	If it possesses if it lacks the if the character- ven in a checklist ion and should not on.
The ratings A, B, C, and D indicate the relative impariant interparts of the reliability of operator performance under of stress. They are described as follows:	ct of a character- r various levels
A - Errors are likely to occur during low stress conditions and will occur frequently under mo stress conditions.	(normal) operating oderate and high
B - Errors are likely to occur during low and model of the ditions and will occur frequently under high	derate stress con- stress conditions.
C - Errors are not very likely under low stress l readily under moderate and high stress condi	but could occur tions.
D - Errors are not very likely to occur under low stress but could occur readily during high s	w and moderate tress conditions.
Perform Document Review Evaluation for Items #1 - #41	•
Item	<u>Rating-Yes No N/A</u>
 Is the procedure format consistent for all emer- gency operating procedures? 	C
2. Are page margins adequate?	C
3. Is the title short and descriptive of the emergency condition or purpose for which the procedure is applicable?	y C
4. If the purpose of the procedure is not clear from the title, is there a statement of scope or purpose?	C

Item Rating Yes No N/A 5. Does the procedure cover or first page provide the following identification information? D Title ā. b. Procedure number Revision number and date С. Unit number (if applicable) d. Approval signature and date e. f. Number of pages 6. If this is a multiple unit site, does the procedure refer to one unit only and is it readily identifiable to that unit? B 7. Does each page provide the following identification information? D Title or number a. b. Revision number and date Unit number (if applicable) с. Page of d. 8. Is the location of page identification information consistent? D 9. Is the last page of the procedure clearly identified by marking, e.g., Page of or Final Page? D 10. If this is a temporary procedure, is it clearly С marked with the expiration date? 11. Do the immediate operator actions avoid referencing operators to other procedures for instructions? В 12. Are the titles and numbers of all referenced documents identified correctly and consistently? С 13. If more than one person is required to perform the procedure, is the procedure written to one 'primary' user? That is, is it clear from the way that instructions are written that one person is responsible for coordinating the activity? В 14. Does the procedure contain provisions for coordinating the activities of others? For example, is there a checklist for a coordinator to record that B an action has been completed?

		Item	Rating	Yes 1	No N/A		
• ·	15.	Does the procedure provide a means to check off that the following were observed or performed?	В				
		a Symptome					
-		b. Automatic actionsc. Immediate operator actions					
	16.	Are instructions written in short, concise, num- bered steps as opposed to multi-step paragraphs?	A				
	17.	Are the instructions typed in both upper and lower case letters as conventionally used as op- posed to all upper case letters? (Capitalization can be used to emphasize individual words in a sentence, and must be used when referring to labels on equipment.)	n C				
· ·	10		-				
	18.	is there consistent use of the following?	C				
		a. Abbreviations, acronyms, and symbolsb. Methods of emphasis					. '
	19.	Are the steps that must be performed in a fixed sequence clearly distinguishable from steps that do <u>not</u> have to be performed in a fixed sequence?	В			·	
	20.	Does each instructional step direct only one action?	B				
	21.	Does each instructional step meet the following criteria?	В				-
		 a. The action to be taken is specifically identified (open, turn, shut). b. Limitations are expressed quantitatively, e.g 2 turns, 80 (75-85) gpm. c. Equipment and parts are identified clearly and unambiguously. 	· ,				
	22.	If a step contains three or more objects of an action, are they listed rather than imbedded in t sentence? For example, if an operator is directe to close three or more valves, they should be listed rather than strung out in a sentence.	he d B			• .	
					•		
-							
						·	
-							
		5					
		5					

Rating Yes No N/A

В

2

23. Do the alignment instructions in the procedure meet all of the following criteria?

	 a. Each item requiring alignment is individually specified. (It is not acceptable to refer personnel to previous steps.) b. Each item is identified with a unique number or nomenclature. c. The position in which the item is to be placed is specified. d. The position in which the item is placed is verified. 	
24.	If cautions are applicable to the performance of specific steps or series of steps, are they placed immediately ahead of the step(s) to which they apply?	В
25.	Are cautions separate and easily distinguishable in appearance from instructional steps? For example, are they enclosed in boxes, typed in bold face letters, headed with the word CAUTION, etc.?	В
26.	Can the text of a caution be read without inter- ruption by intervening steps or page turning?	C
27.	Do cautions avoid the use of action statements? (Statements directing personnel to perform actions must not be imbedded in cautions. Cautions should be expressed in the passive voice.)	В
28.	Are cautions provided to inform personnel when displays are based on secondary sensing modes? For example, is a caution provided when a light indicates only that a circuit is energized rather than the position of the valve?	A
29.	If explanations, i.e., notes, are applicable to the performance of specific steps or series of steps, are they placed immediately ahead of the step(s) to which they apply?	с
30.	Are explanations separate and easily distinguish- able in appearance from instructional steps? For example, are they enclosed in boxes, typed in bold face letters, headed with the word NOTE, etc?	C
	6	

В

В

С

А

А

А

С

Α

А

- 31. Do explanatory notes avoid the use of action statements? (Statements directing personnel to perform actions must not be imbedded in explanatory notes.)
- 32. Are instrument readings, control values, and other limits used to guide operator actions expressed in guantitative terms when possible?
- 33. Are quantitative limits expressed as ranges rather than single values?
- 34. Are limits compatible with those stated in the emergency operating procedure technical guidelines?
- 35. Are the contingencies provided for in the procedure consistent with those specified in the emergency operating procedure technical guidelines?
- 36. Are contingencies written in a consistent style and expressed so that the conditional statement precedes the action statement?
- 37. Are contingency instructions easy to understand? For example, if three or more conditions are associated with an action, they should be listed separately from and ahead of the action statement. A
- 38. If calculations are required, is space provided in the procedure to perform the computations and to record the results?
- 39. Do required calculations use formulas and values that are compatible with the emergency operating procedure technical guidelines?
- 40. Do graphs, charts, tables, and figures meet all of the following criteria?
 - a. They are compatible with the procedure.
 - b. They are legible and readable under expected conditions of use.
 - c. Values can be extracted or interpolated easily and with required accuracy, e.g., nonlinear scales are not used.
 - d. Units of scale and measurement are readily available and usable to the operator.
 - e. Titles are descriptive of contents and use.

А

В

Α

А

Α

A

Δ

41. If the procedure specifies an action that must be performed at a later time or repeated at periodic intervals, does it provide a means to assist the operator in performing the step(s) within the required time frame? For example, if an action must be repeated every 15 minutes, are there spaces for the operator to record the times at which the action must be performed?

Perform Operator Walk-Through for Items #42 - #52.

- 42. Are the emergency operating procedures readily identifiable and easily accessible?
- 43. Does the procedure identify all major symptoms or combinations of symptoms associated with the emergency? (Determine whether the operator can describe major symptoms or combinations not identified by the procedure.)
- 44. Does the procedure specify automatic actions associated with the emergency adequately? (Determine whether the operator can describe automatic actions not identified by the procedure.)
- 45. Does the procedure specify all critical actions required to respond to the emergency? (Observe whether the operator performs critical actions not specified by the procedure.)
- 46. If the procedure contains sequence-critical actions, is the sequence specified by the procedure correct? (Observe whether the operator performs sequence-critical actions in the sequence specified.)
- 47. Does the procedure allow enough time to perform time-critical actions? (Observe whether the operator can perform time-critical actions in the time allowed, i.e., by equipment response, distances involved, etc.)
- 48. Does the procedure identify equipment adequately? (Determine whether the operator can readily identify all equipment and items referred to in the procedure.)

8

		Rating res no n/A
49.	Are references to equipment in the procedure identical to the labels displayed on the equipment?	B
50.	If the answer to Item #49 is Yes, are references to equipment labels typed in upper case letters in the procedure?	B
51.	Are the units of measurement used in the pro- cedure the same as those displayed on instru- ments?	Α
52.	Does the procedure identify the location of each item of equipment adequately? (Observe whether the operator can locate switches, guages etc. in a timely manner.)	A
		٥

Item

Rating Yes No N/A

<u>...</u>;

CHAPTER III

DISCUSSION OF THE CHECKLIST

The checklist has several features that serve to promote the efficiency with which it can be employed. They are described below.

Format of Checklist Items

All of the checklist items are written so that they can be answered Yes, No, or Not Applicable. They are uniformly phrased so that a Yes answer is a positive evaluation. That is, a Yes answer indicates that the procedure possesses a desirable attribute and a No answer means that it lacks a desirable attribute. Not Applicable means the attribute is not relevant to the procedure. For example, a procedure cannot be evaluated regarding the accuracy with which it identifies referenced documents if it does not refer to other documents.

Ratings of Checklist Items

The ratings A, B, C, or D indicate the impact of an item on the quality of human performance. If a procedure is deficient with respect to the characteristic referred to by the item, a performance deviation is more likely to occur than if the procedure possesses the characteristic. The absence of some procedural characteristics is more likely to result in performance deviations than the absence of others. It is therefore necessary to develop a method of rating the checklist items to indicate to the evaluator the relative importance of the characteristic stated in the item. The rating considerations are shown in Table 1. These ratings, integrated with the inspector's own knowledge of the consequences of error associated with the performance of a specific procedure or action, should enable the inspector to assess the importance of correcting a particular procedural deficiency. In general, it should be considered mandatory to correct a deficiency rated A or B. Correction of a deficiency rated C may or may not be considered mandatory, depending upon the inspector's judgment regarding the consequences of error and situational stress factors associated with use of the procedure. A rating of D would not ordinarily be regarded as a mandatory change. However, correction is desirable if the intent is to reduce the frequency of performance error to the minimum rate attainable by means of procedures. Descriptions of the ratings are summarized in Table 2.

Evaluation Methods

The checklist items are grouped according to the evaluation method to be employed in reviewing a procedure for the characteristics described by the items. Two different evaluation methods are prescribed in the checklist; the Document Review Method and the Operator Walk-Through Method.

Probability of Performance Deviation Under:				
Rating	Low Stress*	Moderate Stress*	High Stress*	
A states	Moderate	High	High	
В	Moderate	Moderate	High	
. C	Low	Moderate	Moderate	
D	Low	Low	Moderate	

Table 1. Rating Scale for Procedural Deficiencies

*These terms are defined with descriptions and examples in Swain, A.D. and Guttmann, H.E., <u>Handbook of Human Reliability Analysis with Emphasis on Nu-</u> clear Power Plant Applications, Sandia National Laboratories, NUREG/CR-1278, U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission, Washington, DC, May 1983.

Table 2. Description of Ratings

- A—Errors are likely to occur during low stress (normal) conditions and will be frequently made under moderate and high stress conditions.
- B—Errors are likely to occur during low and moderate stress conditions and will occur frequently under high stress.
- C-Errors are not very likely under low stress but could occur readily under moderate and high stress.
- D-Errors are not very likely to occur under low and moderate stress but could readily occur during high stress.

Document Review Method

The evaluation of a procedure on Items #1 through #41 is accomplished by means of a table-top document review. This method consists of obtaining the procedures of interest and their related documents and evaluating them with respect to the criteria contained in these items. Typically, related documents might consist of 1) the emergency operating procedure technical guidelines, 2) drawings, procedures, schematics, etc. specifically referenced by the procedure, and 3) technical specifications, Final Safety Analysis Reports (FSARs), and other plant-specific documents that affect the content of the procedures. In some cases, it might be necessary to examine corporate policies and station directives having an impact on procedures contents. For example, valve alignment, logging, and tagging activities might be described in a directive rather than a procedure. The inspector should review the documents describing these processes in order to determine whether or not any of this information should be contained in the emergency operating procedure itself rather than in a less immediately accessible document.

These documents in combination comprise the information system affecting the content of procedures and, consequently, the performance of emergency responses. If an inspector cannot evaluate a procedures characteristic from the available documents alone when a document review is specified by the checklist, it can be assumed that the information system is deficient with respect to completeness or with respect to organization. Either deficiency will affect the quality of procedural content adversely.

Operator Walk-Through Method

Items #42 through #52 are evaluated by means of an operator walk-through of the procedure. The performance of this evaluation requires the direct support of a senior reactor operator. The objective of this method is to judge whether or not the amount and kind of information provided by the procedure is complete with respect to the information needs of the operators. That is, the inspector seeks to evaluate the adequacy of the "level of detail" of the procedure. This attribute of a procedure is the most difficult of all procedural characteristics to evaluate. Judgments of adequacy of level of detail are based on assumptions about the qualifications of the personnel for whom the procedure is provided. Such assumptions are often tenuous at best because of the wide differences between groups of operators with respect to training for emergencies and the relatively unknown effects of these differences in training.

Partial evidence of the completeness or level of detail of a procedure can be obtained with the assistance of an experienced operator. The operator must perform a walk-through of the procedure, simulating the actions specified in the instructions. During this process, the completeness of the symptoms and automatic actions sections of the procedure can be determined insofar as possible by means of discussions with the operator.

The technical accuracy of the procedure can be ascertained for the most part only by means of comparing it with the emergency operating procedure technical guidelines. The walk-through can address a limited number of procedural characteristics for accuracy. For example, some evaluations, such as determining the correspondence between equipment nomenclature or identification numbers used in a procedure and the nomenclature or numbers actually displayed on equipment, can be performed by walking through the facility with the procedure in hand and comparing the two. During the walk-through it might also be desired to make selected human factors observations of the work environment, the facility layout and the equipment, all of which bear upon the effectiveness and safety of personnel performance. For example, the inspector might wish to assess the readability of legends and displays from the perspective of the person performing the procedure. Also, distances between operator stations and control positions should be noted to evaluate the efficiency of task sequences and their compatibility with job requirements such as imposed by time-critical tasks.

Explanation of Checklist Items

This section lists the procedures evaluation criteria in the same sequence in which they appear on the checklist. In cases where the relationship between a criterion and the quality of human performance might not be apparent, an explanation is provided.

Perform Document Review Evaluation for Items #1 - #41.

 Is the procedure format consistent for all emergency operating procedures? (C)

Explanation. A consistent format for all of the licensee's emergency operating procedures will aid operators in reading and locating information in them.

2. Are page margins adequate? (C)

Explanation. Page margins should be wide enough to prevent cutting off information due to mispositioning during the copying process. Pages with pre-printed borders would aid the operators in verifying that page content was complete. Margins at binding edges should be large enough to ensure that printed matter is easily visible.

3. Is the title short and descriptive of the emergency condition or purpose for which the procedure is applicable? (C)

Explanation. LERs have occurred because operators selected and used a wrong procedure to perform an activity. The use of descriptive titles will increase the probability of selecting the correct procedure.

4. If the purpose of the procedure is not clear from the title, is there a statement of scope or purpose? (C)

Explanation. None.

- 5. Does the procedure cover or first page provide the following identification information? (D)
 - a. Title
 - b. Procedure number
 - c. Revision number and date
 - d. Unit number (if applicable)
 - e. Approval signature and date
 - f. Number of pages

Explanation. None.

6. If this is a multiple unit site, does the procedure refer to one unit only and is it readily identifiable to that unit? (B)

Explanation. The practice of providing one procedure containing multiple sets of equipment identification numbers for use with two or more units is quite common. This practice increases the difficulty of reading and comprehending the procedure, particularly during stressful circumstances. It also increases the probability of performing a procedure on the wrong unit. These problems can be avoided by providing a separate set of emergency operating procedures for each unit. They should be readily identifiable (by color of binder, etc.) as to which unit they belong.

7. Does each page provide the following identification information? (D)

a. Title or number

- b. Revision number and date
- c. Unit number (if applicable)
- d. Page of

Explanation. None.

8. Is the location of page identification information consistent? (D)

Explanation. None.

9. Is the last page of the procedure clearly identified by marking, e.g., Page of or Final Page? (D)

Explanation. The last page of a procedure is most vulnerable to becoming detached and lost. It should be made obvious to the user if the last page is missing.

10. If this is a temporary procedure, is it clearly marked with the expiration date? (C)

Explanation. None.

11. Do the immediate operator actions avoid referencing operators to other procedures for instructions? (B)

Explanation. One of the most frequently voiced complaints of operators about procedures is the overuse of references to other procedures for instructional information. In some cases the other procedures may not be obtained and used. To ensure the ready availability of information for the learning and performance of immediate operator actions, all critical information should be provided by one procedure only. 12. Are the titles and numbers of all referenced documents identified correctly and consistently? (C)

Explanation. Procedure references are sometimes in error due to the deletion of referenced documents or changes in their identification information (e.g., procedure number, title, revision number). Therefore, all references to other documents should be checked for accuracy. Consistency of formating references should also be determined. If the procedure refers operators to other procedures for instructional information, the quality of the referenced procedure should be evaluated, starting with Item #1 of the checklist.

13. If more than one person is required to perform the procedure, is the procedure written to one 'primary' user? That is, is it clear from the way that instructions are written that one person is responsible for coordinating the activity? (B)

Explanation. The findings from the several TMI-2 studies underlined the need for more structured coordination of crew responses to emergencies. The study on which the checklist is based disclosed considerable variability among plants and among shift supervisors within a given plant with respect to training and skills in coordinating crew responses. Procedural formats to structure multi-man activities have been developed and used effectively for many years. The application of a similar procedural structure to nuclear power plant emergency operating procedures would reduce the number of errors in communication and in omissions of actions that currently result from relatively unstructured, uncoordinated crew responses. Because the emergency operating procedures are used for training as well as on-the-job application, they could also contribute to the development of the relevant coordination skills.

14. Does the procedure contain provisions for coordinating the activities of others? For example, is there a checklist for a coordinator to record that an action has been completed? (B)

Explanation. High-stress conditions are conducive to errors in communications and omission of actions, particularly when the activities of several individuals, sometimes remote from each other, must be coordinated. A checklist or other device will aid in the early detection of these errors.

- 15. Does the procedure provide a means to check off that the following were observed or performed? (B)
 - a. Symptoms
 - b. Automatic actions
 - c. Immediate operator actions

Explanation. The observation of symptoms and automatic actions and the performance of immediate operator actions are typically accomplished before a procedure is obtained. As a result, reliance must be placed upon operator memory (unless automatic recording equipment is available and operable) to reconstruct the course of an event. The checklists are intended to enable the operators to record the occurrence of symptoms, automatic actions, and immediate operator actions directly after obtaining the procedure and before stress further degrades accurate recall. The checklists enhance the detection of errors of omission.

16. Are instructions written in short, concise, numbered steps as opposed to multi-step paragraphs? (A)

Explanation. Studies have shown that the speed of reading and the comprehension of written instructions are improved if the instructions are presented in short, concise sentences. Ideally, an instruction should consist of an action verb and the object of the action—plus action limits and object identifiers, and, if necessary, object locators. Additional information, such as that contained in explanations and descriptions, that is intended to aid the user to accomplish the action more effectively should ordinarily be presented in the form of a note preceding the action instruction.

17. Are the instructions typed in both upper and lower case letters as conventionally used as opposed to all upper case letters? (Capitalization can be used to emphasize individual words in a sentence, and must be used when referring to labels on equipment.) (C)

Explanation. Studies have shown that conventional printing can be read faster and more accurately than text printed entirely in upper case lettering. In addition, upper case lettering in the body of the text should be reserved for equipment labels to aid in detecting references to them.

18. Is there consistent use of the following? (C)

a. Abbreviations, acronyms, and symbols

b. Methods of emphasis

Explanation. None.

19. Are the steps that must be performed in a fixed sequence clearly distinguishable from steps that do <u>not</u> have to be performed in a fixed sequence? (B)

Explanation. By its very nature, a written procedure presents steps in a sequence. In many cases, the actions can be performed in a variety of sequences to accomplish the same operation. In some operations, however, the sequence in which the actions are performed is critical. That is, only a single sequence of actions will result in acceptable accomplishment of the operation. Yet, the study team encountered only one plant in which sequence-critical steps were identified. As a result, the operators are generally required to make this distinction—even in high-stress conditions. A related consequence is that inspectors or other personnel cannot assess operator knowledge of sequence-critical operations. Identification of sequence-critical steps would aid operator training and performance evaluation.

20. Does each instructional step direct only one action? (B)

Explanation. The greater the number of actions that are directed by a step, the more likely an action is to be overlooked or forgotten. In the case of emergency operating procedures, a step should generally contain only one action. However, if actions are logically related, up to three actions in a step are acceptable. Related actions are actions that, in combination, accomplish a single end-result. They are interdependent in the sense that performing one action enhances the likelihood of performing the next action. In the example of related actions shown below, the single result is an adjusted volume.

Example of Three Related Actions (Acceptable):

"5. <u>Start pump PL-16</u>. <u>Observe gauge WL-16</u>. When level is 62 (60-64) in., stop pump."

Example of Two Unrelated Actions (Not Acceptable):

- "8. Close switch LAC-1781. Close valve HVC-23."
- 21. Does each instructional step meet the following criteria? (B)
 - a. The action to be taken is specifically identified (open, turn, shut).
 - Limitations are expressed quantitatively, e.g., 2 turns, 80 (75-85) gpm.
 - c. Equipment and parts are identified clearly and unambiguously.

Explanation. The above criteria list the basic characteristics of a specific (versus general) instruction. Fewer errors of interpretation or omission result from instructions with high specificity.

22. If a step contains three or more objects of an action, are they listed rather than imbedded in the sentence? For example, if an operator is directed to close three or more valves, they should be listed rather than strung out in a sentence. (B)

Explanation. This format (tabular or columnar) can be read faster and implemented more accurately than conventional sentence structure. For example:

This

Not This

0pen	following	valves:	0pe	n valves	XXU,	XXV,	XXW,	XXX,
XXU	XXX		XXY	, and XX	Ζ.			
XXV	XXY			-				
XXW	XXZ							

23. Do the alignment instructions in the procedure meet all of the following criteria? (B)

a. Each item requiring alignment is individually specified. (It is not acceptable to refer personnel to previous steps.)

- b. Each item is identified with a unique number or nomenclature.
- c. The position in which the item is to be placed is specified.
- d. The position in which the item is placed is verified.

Explanation. Two of the primary contributors to misalignment are lack of specificity of instructions and lack of physical verification of position. The criteria listed above are aimed at improving specificity and verification. In some procedures, it was found that instructions were adequate for initial alignment but shortchanged realignment by simply directing personnel to "Reposition valves listed in Step 5." In this instance, personnel were not provided a means within the procedure for verifying valve position. The instructions should have relisted the valves, their new positions, and provided for checkoff for each valve.

24. If cautions are applicable to the performance of specific steps or series of steps, are they placed immediately ahead of the step(s) to which they apply? (B)

Explanation. Information must be presented in the order in which it is needed. If the user needs cautionary information before performing a specific action, it must be presented before the statement directing the action. Otherwise, there is a high probability that the action will be performed without the cautionary information being taken into consideration.

25. Are cautions separate and easily distinguishable in appearance from instructional steps? For example, are they enclosed in boxes, typed in bold face letters, headed with the word CAUTION, etc? (B)

Explanation. None.

26. Can the text of a caution be read without interruption by intervening steps or page turning? (C) Explanation. Presenting the cautionary message as a single unit aids comprehension. Also, if the caution is broken by other material or pages, it is possible that the operator will overlook the remainder of the message.

27. Do cautions avoid the use of action statements? (Statements directing personnel to perform actions must not be imbedded in cautions. Cautions should be expressed in the passive voice.) (B)

Explanation. Cautions should not be expressed in terms of directing users to take or not take actions. Instead, the cautions should describe the conditions or consequences of actions. The passive voice should be used. All actions should be directed in the instructional steps only. Failure to observe this rule consistently will result in the overlooking of critical actions by the operators.

28. Are cautions provided to inform personnel when displays are based on secondary sensing modes? For example, is a caution provided when a light indicates only that a circuit is energized rather than the position of the value? (A)

Explanation. In the TMI-2 event, individuals interpreted a display of switch position as if it were a display of valve position. An optimum solution to this human factors problem is to replace secondary sensing systems with primary sensing systems. A less effective, but readily available, solution is to insert cautions or notes in procedures to identify displays based on secondary sensing.

29. If explanations, i.e., notes, are applicable to the performance of specific steps or series of steps, are they placed immediately ahead of the step(s) to which they apply? (C)

Explanation. See explanation for Item #24.

30. Are explanations separate and easily distinguishable in appearance from instructional steps? For example, are they enclosed in boxes, typed in bold face letters, headed with the word NOTE, etc.? (C)

Explanation. None.

31. Do explanatory notes avoid the use of action statements? (Statements directing personnel to perform actions must not be imbedded in explanatory notes.) (B)

Explanation. See explanation for Item #27.

32. Are instrument readings, control values, and other limits used to guide operator actions expressed in quantitative terms when possible? (B) <u>Explanation</u>. In this and other studies, reactor operators have expressed a need for more quantitative limits in procedures. It has also been found that operators vary among themselves with regard to their interpretation of qualitative modifiers, e.g., slow, fast, rapidly. Finally, high-stress conditions can distort an individual's perception of slow, fast, etc. Use of quantified limits will promote more uniformity of responses.

33. Are quantitative limits expressed as ranges rather than single values? (C)

Explanation. When equipment does not permit the setting of point values, or when a range of values is acceptable, the limits should be expressed in terms or ranges. However, they should be expressed in a form to avoid errors of addition, subtraction, or conversion. Example:

Preferable		Not Preferable	
to	·	<u>+</u>	
Best) (midpoint lower l	imit upper limit	⁺ %(Worst	:)

34. Are limits compatible with those stated in the emergency operating procedure technical guidelines? (A)

Explanation. None.

35. Are the contingencies provided for in the procedure consistent with those specified in the emergency operating procedure technical guidelines? (A)

Explanation. Many procedures are written as though all conditions and limits will be met. They do not address the exceptions. For example, if equipment is operating outside the range specified by the procedure they fail to instruct the operator what action to take. In the study on which the checklist is based, it was found that the procedures preceded by a formal engineering analysis (as represented in the emergency operating procedure technical guidelines) covered 4.5 times as many contingencies as the emergency operating procedures that were not derived from engineering analyses. The implication of this finding is that an emergency operating procedure might be incomplete with respect to contingency information. If the inspector finds that no engineering an-alysis was performed, the completeness of much of the information in the procedure is doubtful. It is impractical for the inspector to perform an engineering analysis of the magnitude required to identify all contingencies that can be reasonably expected. However, the inspector can determine the compatibility between a procedure and its supporting emergency operating procedure technical guideline with respect to the number and content of contingencies. Also, it may be helpful to make a partial evaluation of the procedure with the aid of the control room operating staff using the walk-through process.

36. Are contingencies written in a consistent style and expressed so that the conditional statement precedes the action statement? (A)

Explanation. If the action instruction precedes the conditional statement, there is an increased probability that the operator will perform the action before reading the qualifying condition. For example, a contingency instruction should be written "If (condition) do (action)" rather than "Do (action) if (condition)." Also, the instructions should be written in a consistent style to aid comprehension.

37. Are contingency instructions easy to understand? For example, if three or more conditions are associated with an action, they should be listed separately from and ahead of the action statement. (A)

Explanation. Frequently, the instruction to perform an action depends upon the presence of several conditions or combinations of conditions. In these instances the majority of the procedures reviewed provided this information in lengthy, hard-to-understand sentences. Essential contingency information could be overlooked or misinterpreted in complex sentences, particularly during high-stress conditions conducive to the impairment of comprehension. A tabular or columnar format promotes ease of comprehension. Example:



38. If calculations are required, is space provided in the procedure to perform the computations and to record the results? (C)

Explanation. This provision is intended to increase the accuracy of performing calculations and to facilitate subsequent verification of the results.

39. Do required calculations use formulas and values that are compatible with the emergency operating procedure technical guidelines? (A)

Explanation. None.

st .

do

- 40. Do graphs, charts, tables, and figures meet all of the following criteria? (A)
 - a. They are compatible with the procedure.
 - b. They are legible and readable under expected conditions of use.
 - c. Values can be extracted or interpolated easily and with required accuracy, e.g., nonlinear scales are not used.
 - d. Units of scale and measurement are readily available and usable to the operator.
 - e. Titles are descriptive of contents and use.

Explanation. Misinterpretation of graphs, charts, and tables has resulted in performance errors. It is often traceable to poor readability of these materials—which, in turn, is attributable to 1) inadequate original construction, or 2) inadequate reproduction. The following guidelines are provided to evaluate readability.

Original construction. Letters and numbers should be typed rather than handwritten. Lines on graph paper should be reproducible on licensee reproduction equipment. On graphs, units of measurement used in plotted values should be compatible with divisions on graph paper. That is, if plotted values progress in units of five, e.g., 5, 10, 15, etc., it is better to separate the values by five lines than by four lines. To facilitate accuracy of locating values in charts and tables, look for such aids as 1) partitioning tables with lines, 2) arranging values in subgroups, e.g., inserting spaces between subgroups of five values, and 3) placing connecting lines between values or between nomenclature and values.

<u>Reproduction</u>. In some cases, copies are so many generations removed from the original or master copy that lines in graphs, charts, and tables have deteriorated or disappeared, making it difficult to track or interpolate values. Letters and numbers can undergo similar deterioration. Also, materials have sometimes been reduced in size so that readability is impaired. Letters and numbers should be at least 1/8 in. in height, unbroken, and unfilled. All lines in the reproductions should be as visible as they are in the orginal master copies. First, compare the reproductions to the original or master copies. Then, evaluate the readability of the reproductions under the conditions of illumination in which personnel use them.

41. If the procedure specifies an action that must be performed at a later time or repeated at periodic intervals, does it provide a means to assist the operator in performing the step(s) within the required time frame? For example, if an action must be repeated every 15 minutes, are there spaces for the operator to record the times at which the action must be performed? (A)

Explanation. Some emergency operating procedures require that an action such as checking a pressure or flowrate be performed at set intervals, e.g., every 15 minutes. In the past, failure to observe timing requirements has resulted in LERs describing overflows, excessive draining, etc. Provisions within the procedure for recording times at which time-critical actions must be performed will enable operators to comply with timing requirements more consistently and more accurately.

Perform Operator Walk-Through for Items #42 - #52.

42. Are the emergency operating procedures readily identifiable and easily accessible? (B)

Explanation. Although this item does not represent a procedure characteristic, this assessment can be readily made as part of the walk-through process.

43. Does the procedure identify all major symptoms or combinations of symptoms associated with the emergency? (Determine whether the operator can describe major symptoms or combinations not identified by the procedure.) (A)

Explanation. See explanation for Item #45.

44. Does the procedure specify automatic actions associated with the emergency adequately? (Determine whether the operator can describe automatic actions not specified by the procedure.) (A)

Explanation. See explanation for Item #45.

45. Does the procedure specify all critical actions required to respond to the emergency? (Observe whether the operator performs critical actions not specified by the procedure.) (A)

Explanation. Items #43, #44, and #45 deal with the completeness of an emergency operating procedure. As described earlier (see explanation for Item #35), the completeness of a procedure is a function of the quality of the engineering analyses on which the procedure is based. It is possible that the inspector will find that no engineering analyses were performed as part of the development of the procedure being evaluated. It is also possible that some of the analyses that were performed were inadequate. Study findings comparing the amount of contingency information in procedures not derived from engineering analyses against procedures derived from emergency operating procedure technical guidelines (see Item #35) underline this possibility. The inspector is not in a position to perform engineering analyses to determine the completeness of the information in a procedure. However, the procedure can be compared with the emergency operating procedure technical guidelines to determine the compatibility between them. A partial evaluation can be made with a relatively small investment of time with the assistance of members of the operating staff. Discussions with and observations of experienced operators performing a walk-through of the procedure should disclose procedural omissions.

46. If the procedure contains sequence-critical actions, is the sequence specified by the procedure correct? (Observe whether the operator performs sequence-critical actions in the sequence specified.) (A)

Explanation. The inspector will encounter some procedures in which sequences of actions are not critical and other procedures in which sequences are critical to successful accomplishment of an operation. In many cases, the licensee will not make this distinction obvious. As a first step, the licensee should be required to identify sequence-critical steps. The inspector can then determine the accuracy of the sequences as part of the walk-through evaluation process.
47. Does the procedure allow enough time to perform time-critical actions? (Observe whether the operator can perform time-critical actions in the time allowed, i.e., by equipment response, distances involved, etc.) (A)

Explanation. Some actions specified in emergency operating procedures are time-critical. Time-critical steps should be identified by the licensee along with the time allowed to perform a step or the time allowed to intervene between steps. The inspector should then determine whether or not the operator or crew of operators can perform these steps within the allowed time limits.

48. Does the procedure identify equipment adequately? (Determine whether the operator can readily identify all equipment and items referred to in the procedure.) (A)

Explanation. None.

49. Are references to equipment in the procedure identical to the labels displayed on the equipment? (B)

Explanation. None.

50. If the answer to Item #49 is Yes, are references to equipment labels typed in upper case letters in the procedure? (B)

Explanation. It is a technical writing practice to print references to equipment labels in capital letters. Use of this guideline enables operators to locate and identify procedural references to equipment quickly. It also informs operators that these are the labels they will find on the equipment itself.

51. Are the units of measurement used in the procedure the same as those displayed on instruments? (A)

Explanation. Use of the same units of measurement in procedures and on instruments will prevent errors introduced in converting units of measurement.

52. Does the procedure identify the location of each item of equipment adequately? (Observe whether the operator can locate switches, gauges, etc. in a timely manner.) (A)

Explanation. Findings from TMI-2 and other studies suggest that procedures sometimes fail to provide enough location information to the operators. This deficiency can be particularly serious in an emergency during which search time might be limited. Emergency operating procedures should be evaluated for this characteristic as part of the walk-through.

**

.

CHAPTER IV

APPLICATION OF THE CHECKLIST.

The checklist can be applied to serve either or both of two distinctly different purposes. They are:

- 1. to identify deficiencies in a sample of procedures with the objective of correcting the deficiencies in that specific sample of procedures, and/or
- to identify deficiencies in a sample of procedures with the objective of correcting the process that produced the deficient procedures.

In the first case, the inspector is basically performing the function of an editor, and, as a result, the impact of the inspection process will be confined to the procedures being evaluated. The rate at which existing procedures are modified and new procedures are prepared far outpaces the rate at which they can be evaluated by inspectors. Therefore, if only changes in identified deficiencies are sought, the objective of improving the effectiveness and safety efficiency of the inspection process will not be attained.

In the second case, the impact of the inspector on the quality of licensee procedures will be maximized. Here, the procedures are viewed primarily as indicators of the quality of the procedures development process. Although the inspector should also seek to have the specific procedures that are reviewed corrected, the main objective of the inspection is to determine the overall quality of the licensee's procedures development process. If the samples of procedures exhibit particular deficiencies in common with each other, a change in the process used by the licensee to prepare or revise procedures, or a change in the licensee's specification governing the format or content of the procedures is required. This kind of corrective action, coupled with periodic inspections, will effectively improve the quality of all of the emergency operating procedures, rather than just the procedures selected for review. If the checklist is used in this manner, the objective of improving the effectiveness and safety efficiency of the inspection process will be advanced.

Based on inspector experience in evaluating procedures with checklists, the following method of application is suggested.

• To identify deficiencies that are common to a set of procedures, sample a small number of procedures that is representative of the licensee's emergency operating procedures. Evaluate the procedures in detail with the checklist to determine whether they have deficiencies in common with each other. After they have been identified, it may be unnecessary to review subsequent procedures on these generic characteristics.

- To identify deficiencies specific to a particular procedure, perform a review for the following characteristics in the order listed below. Complete the review of a procedure on one characteristic before proceeding to the next characteristic.
 - a. Proper procedure and page identification information
 - b. Consistency of format and style
 - c. Adequate entry conditions
 - d. Check-off and verification provisions
 - e. Clarity and specificity of instructions (e.g., sentence structure, action, equipment, limits)
 - f. Adequacy of information (e.g., cautions, notes, instructions)
 - g. Adequacy of contingency instructions and branching

NRC FORM 335 U.S. NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION BIBLIOGRAPHIC DATA SHEET		1. REPORT NUMBER (Assigned by DDC) NUREG/CR-2005, Rev. 1					
		SAND81-7074					
4 TITLE AND SUBTITLE (Add Volume No., if appropriate) Checklist for Evaluating Emergency Operating Procedures Used in Nuclear Power Plants		2. (Leave blank)					
		3. RECIPIENT'S ACCESSION NO.					
7. AUTHOR(S)		5. DATE REPORT COMPLETED					
Robert L. Brune and Meyer Weinstein		February	1983				
9. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME AND MAILING ADDRESS (Include Zip Code)HPT, Inc.Under Subcontract toP.O. Box 3816Sandia National LaboratoriesThousand Oaks, CAAlbuquerque, NM 87185		DATE REPORT ISS					
		April	1983				
		6. (Leave blank)					
		8. (Leave blank)					
12 SPONSORING ORGANIZATION NAME AND MAILING ADDRESS (Include Zip Code) Division of Quality Assurance, Safeguards, and Inspection Programs Office of Inspection and Enforcement		10. PROJECT/TASK/WORK UNIT NO. 11. CONTRACT NO. FIN No. B3098					
				U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission	,		- /
				Washington, DC 20555	PERIOD COVERE	D (Inclusive dates)	······································
Technical report - formal	9/1/81 -	3/3/83					
		14 (Leave black)	·····				
IS, SUPPLEMENTART NUTES							
16, ABSTRACT (200 words or less)							
characteristics of the procedures that can lead planations of the procedures evaluation criteria Methods of performing the evaluations are descri- checklist to increase the effectiveness of the document, <u>Development of a Checklist for Evaluar</u> <u>Power Plants</u> , NUREG/CR-1970, describes the method presents the study findings on which the procedu- Revision 1 of the checklist, presented herein, in NRC inspectors in all five NRC regions. It income by inspectors based on their experience with the licensee procedures.	to operato a comprisin ibed and su inspection ting Emerge lology used ares evaluation is the resu prorates in checklist	r performance g the checklis ggestions for process are mancy Procedures to develop th tion criteria lt of a one-ye mprovements th in performing	deviations. Ex- st are provided. applying the ide. A companion s Used in Nuclear the checklist and are based. ear field test by nat were suggested s evaluations of				
17. KEY WORDS AND DOCUMENT ANALYSIS 17a. DESCRIPTORS							
checklist for procedures evaluation							
human factors							
		· ·					
170. IDENTIFIERS/OPEN-ENDED TERMS							
18. AVAILABILITY STATEMENT	19. SECURITY	CLASS (This report)	21. NO. OF PAGES				
Unlimited	20. SECURITY	CLASS (This page)	22. PRICE				
			3				

NRC FORM 335 (7-77)

l , .

\$ •

. .

UNITED STATES NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION WASHINGTON; D.C. 20555

OFFICIAL BUSINESS

7 1 2

NUREG/CR-2005, Rev. 1

CHECKLIST FOR EVALUATING EMERGENCY OPERATING PROCEDURES USED IN NUCLEAR POWER PLANTS

MARCH 1983

李子